
 

REGULAR MEETING 

October 03, 2022 
10:00 AM 

 
Albany-Dougherty Government Center 
222 Pine Ave, Room 100, Albany, GA 31701 

 

 
AGENDA 

To comply with the request set forth by the Chairman of Dougherty County, GA and the 
guidelines of the Center for Disease Control (CDC) regarding the Coronavirus (COVID19) 
pandemic and social distancing, face coverings (masks) are optional for all meeting participants. 

 

The public will also have access to the live meeting by accessing the Dougherty County Georgia 
Government Facebook page at facebook.com/Dougherty.ga.us or viewing the public 
government access channel (Channel 16). 

1. Call the meeting to order by Chairman Christopher Cohilas. 

2. Roll Call. 

3. Invocation. 

4. Pledge of Allegiance. 

5. Minutes. 

a. Consider for action the Minutes of the August 29th Special Called Meeting and 
September 12th Regular Meeting.  ACTION: 

6. Delegations (The Commission will hear comments on those items pertaining to Dougherty 
County for which a public hearing has not been held or scheduled. Please be brief, to the 
point, and considerate of time for others). 

7. Zoning- Public Hearing. (Those wishing to speak on these matters should print their 
name on the Sign Up Sheet in the rear of the Chamber prior to the start of the 
meeting). 

a. Recommendation to accept the proposed Dougherty County Wind Energy Conversion 
Systems (WECS) Ordinance.  The Albany-Dougherty Planning Commission 
recommended approval.  Planning and Development Services Director Paul Forgey 
will address. 

1



8. Purchases. 

a. Consider for action the acceptance of the bid for Preventive Filter Maintenance for 
Facilities Management from the sole bidder meeting specifications, RHC Heating and 
Cooling (Albany, GA) in the amount of $85,324.05.  Funding is available in the General 
Fund.  ACTION: 

9. Board Appointments. 

a. Consider for action the proposed Board Appointments.  Appointments are made by 
nominations. 

Air Conditioning, Heating, & Ventilation Board – One (1) County appointment 
with a one-year unexpired term ending December 31, 2022.  One new applicant: 
Quianna Lavant.  All joint appointments must be ratified by the City of 
Albany.  ACTION: 

Economic Development Commission – One (1) appointment with a two-year 
unexpired term ending December 31, 2022.  Three new applicants: Will Davis, 
Lawrence Knighton and Quianna Lavant.  ACTION: 

Historic Preservation Commission – Three (3) appointments with a two-year 
unexpired term ending December 31, 2022.  Two new applicants: Quianna 
Lavant and Kenny Loudenbarger.  ACTION: 

Library Board – Two (2) appointments: one (1) with a three-year unexpired term 
ending December 31, 2022 and one (1) with a three-year unexpired term ending 
December 31, 2023.  Two new applicants: Will Davis and Charlotte 
Ledford.  ACTION: 

10. Additional Business. 

a. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the authorization to execute the 
Agreement Governing Expenditures for State and Local Government Costs with the 
Georgia Department of Natural Resources Environmental Protections Division 
(EPD).  Action is required to receive reimbursement funds from the Hazardous Waste 
Trust Fund in the amount of $111,280.91.  Assistant County Administrator Scott 
Addison will address.  Solid Waste Director Campbell Smith is present.  ACTION: 

b. Consider for action the Resolution providing for the acceptance of the proposed 
Dougherty County Wind Energy Conversion Systems (WECS) Ordinance.  The 
Albany-Dougherty Planning Commission recommended approval.  ACTION: 

11. Updates from the County Administrator. 

12. Updates from the County Attorney. 

13. Updates from the County Commission. 

2



14. Adjourn. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to 
observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of 
the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the ADA Coordinator at 229-431-2121 
promptly to allow the County to make reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

3



 

 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

SPECIAL CALLED MEETING MINUTES 

 

August 29, 2022 
 

The Dougherty County Commission met for a Special Called Meeting in Room 100 of the 

Albany-Dougherty Government Center on August 29, 2022.  Chairman  

Christopher Cohilas presided and called the meeting to order at 10:00 am.  Present were 

Commissioners Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray, Clinton Johnson and 

Anthony Jones. Also present were County Administrator Michael McCoy, Assistant 

County Administrator Scott Addison, County Attorney Alex Shalishali, County Clerk 

Jawahn Ware and other staff.  Commissioner Ed Newsome participated via live stream.  

The public and representatives of the media participated in person and via live streaming 

of the meeting on the County’s Facebook page and the government public access channel.  

 

The Chairman called for approval of the August 1st Regular Meeting, August 5th Special 

Called Meeting, August 8th Work Session and August 8th Special Called Meeting. 

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Commissioner Edwards seconded the motion.  

Under discussion, the unanimous approval was provided noting a change to the  

August 8, 2022 Special Called Meeting notifying a percentage of the SPLOST distribution 

instead of a dollar amount. 

 

The Chairman opened the Public Hearing for a proposed tax increase to 19.069 mils for 

the County-Wide General Fund.  The millage rate of 9.173 will remain the same for the 

Special Services District.  William Wright, the representative for AFRAM Tech, Inc. spoke 

in opposition of the millage rate and provided concerns regarding the Commissioner's 

spending habits, use of other funds and the loss of population.  Due to limited time, he said 

that he will come back to present additional information.  Citizen Maggie Taylor opposed 

the millage rate and asked the Commission to consider families with one income and 

suggested this is not the best time to increase.  Citizen Donna Bussey was a new citizen to 

the area and inquired about other alternatives that were considered prior to seeking an 

increase.   Citizen Robert Lewis opposed the increase and suggested that a citizen oversight 

committee be utilized to review the government structures.  He also shared that this action 

is considered to be a crisis management and negatively impacts senior citizens and 

suggested citizen buy-in.  Commissioner Gray shared that the government budgets are 

available online.  Commissioner Edwards asked if there can be a discussion on the next 

Work Session regarding an oversight committee.  Chairman Cohilas shared that he will 

work with Mr. McCoy on the discussion of the suggestion.  Commissioner Edwards also 

answered some of the salary concerns of the Commission for Ms. Bussey.  There being no 

other individuals present in support of or opposition to the proposed tax public hearing, the 

Chairman closed the Public Hearing. 

 

4

Item 5a.



 

 

The Chairman called a recess from 10:25 a.m.-10:36 a.m. to accommodate the arrival of 

Judge Lockette. 

 

The Chairman recognized Judge Willie Lockette to thank the Commission for support of a 

Superior Court Judgeship for the Dougherty Judicial Circuit and to address concerns.  He 

shared that Dougherty County ranked number one in the state for needing an additional 

judgeship and he provided other statistics.  He also shared that there will be operational 

costs to the County for an additional Judge in the amount of $200,000.  However, this 

offsets the cost plus more than having an inmate sit in jail awaiting processing.  This will 

be cost-shifting from pretrial detention.  He confirmed that we are losing population, but 

the number of violent crimes continues to increase.  Chairman Cohilas asked that the Judge 

speak on the caseloads, staff vacancies, and potential positive impact of the pay study. 

Judge Lockette said that we have come to the reality that we have a district disadvantage 

on compensation and must look at a way to incentivize individuals because the pay is being 

doubled in other areas.  Chairman Cohilas shared additional concerns and said that 

proactive ideas are being considered.  Judge Lockette asked the Board to contact our 

Legislation because the Governor will have to sign granting final approval.  

 

The Chairman recognized representatives from Sea Breeze Albany, LLC to provide an 

update and plans for 600 Holly Drive (formerly known as Paradise Village).  Mr. Pat 

McKee shared information about a free application called “Tornadoe Free” that alerts you 

when you are in the path of a tornado. He also shared that his property name is changing 

and Pierce Point plans to change the polarity from low-income housing to moderate-

income manufactured affordable housing.  He shared pictures of the other complexes they 

own.  He said that he plans to have 200 homes completed by the summer of 2023.   

Chris Brazell spoke on the infrastructure concerns. 

 

The Chairman recognized Tammi Starkey, Senior Vice President, NFP Corporate Services 

to update the Commission on the 2023 Plan Benefit Renewals.  Ms. Starkey said that the 

plan was doing tremendously well.  Our claims for Covid expenses have reduced and are 

currently at $800,000 whereas the previous year was over $2 million.  FY23 has a budget 

increase of $343,000 which is 5.1%.  There are no changes to the plan except to add a buy-

up plan option for vision and increase the LTD max benefits to $10,000.  She also discussed 

that a new vendor for the clinic will be in place January 2023. 

 

The Chairman recognized Jana Dyke, President & CEO Albany-Dougherty Economic 

Development Commission, to update the Commission with the quarterly report.   Ms. Dyke 

provided an overview of the strategic plan that they started in 2019.  She is striving to be 

proactive instead of reactive in business development.  She mentioned that Chris Hatcher 

is the Chair for the EDC and said that she will be taking resumes for a business 

development position.  She addressed questions of Commissioner Gaines to positively 

impact our tax digest.  

5

Item 5a.



 

 

The Chairman recognized William Wright, a representative for AFRAM Tech, Inc. to 

continue his update to the Commission on the Federal Reserve Bank Loan, Mainstreet 

Lending Program and Entrepreneur Academy.  Mr. Wright suggested that the area become 

a destination area.  He also reviewed the information presented previously on the Main 

Street New Loan Facility. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution authorizing the execution of the 

amended Intergovernmental Agreement with the City of Albany for the 2022 Byrne Justice 

Assistance Grant (JAG) Program in the amount of $21,347.20.  The Agreement stipulates 

that the County will receive 20% of the total award ($106,737).  The grant award increased 

after the Commission's approval in the July 18, 2022 Regular Meeting. County 

Administrator Michael McCoy addressed.  Mr. McCoy shared that the grant increased by 

$737 for the county. 

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Johnson, the 

motion passed unanimously. Resolution 22-039 is entitled:  

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ACCEPTANCE AND 

EXECUTION OF AN AMENDED INTERGOVERNMENTAL 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ALBANY AND DOUGHERTY 

COUNTY RELATIVE TO A 2022 BYRNE JUSTICE ASSISTANCE (JAG) 

PROGRAM AWARD; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF 

RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution declaring the listed vehicles and 

equipment as surplus and authorizing the disposal of or sale of same via an online auction.  

Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison was present. 

 

Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Johnson, the 

motion passed unanimously.  Resolution 22-040 is entitled:  

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING AS SURPLUS THE ATTACHED VEHICLES; 

PROVIDING THE DISPOSAL OF OR SALE OF SAME VIA AN ONLINE 

AUCTION; REPEALING PRIOR RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT; AND FOR 

OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

6

Item 5a.



 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the approval of the 

2022 Millage Rates for the County-Wide General Fund, Special Services District Fund, 

Dougherty County School System and State of Georgia.   

 

Commissioner Gray moved for approval.  Commissioner Jones seconded the motion.  The 

motion passed with four ayes and three nays by Commissioner Edwards, Commissioner 

Johnson, and Commissioner Gaines.  Resolution 22-041 is entitled:  

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION ASSESSING THE RATE OF TAXATION FOR 

COUNTY PURPOSES ON ALL TAXABLE PROPERTY IN 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA AND ON ALL TAXABLE 

PROPERTY IN THE SPECIAL SERVICES DISTRICT OF DOUGHERTY 

COUNTY, GEORGIA FOR 2022; REPEALING PRIOR RESOLUTIONS 

OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; AND FOR 

OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

Mr. McCoy reminded the Board that in observance of the Labor Day Holiday, there will 

be no meeting on Monday, September 5, 2022.  The next meeting will be a Work Session 

on Monday, September 12, 2022. 

 

Commissioner Edwards shared a concern about employees not having a recourse (appeal) 

in reference to the pay study concerns.  Mr. McCoy shared that the appeal time had ended.  

Commissioner Edwards said that it needed to be a “sweet spot” because there is a disparity 

between employees with longevity and new employees.  Mr. McCoy shared that a 

contractor was hired to manage the process and Chairman Cohilas requested that 

employees with concerns contact Mr. McCoy.  Commissioner Jones stated his concern 

regarding the millage rates.  He said that we knew about this needed increase in 2017 but 

we did not communicate well with the citizens.  He also expressed the importance of this 

and how Dougherty County has been good steward, noting we are one of the few areas to 

remain debt free.  He added that we all are caught in the worldwide inflation bubble.  

 

After comments, Commissioner Edwards said that he is now in favor of the millage rate 

increase.  However, Chairman Cohilas shared that the vote is closed but he appreciated the 

sentiments.  Commissioner Gaines wanted options for an ordinance on how to address 

debris left from homes (alluding to evictions).  She wanted steps on a briefing referencing 

the property for options.  Chairman Cohilas also directed Attorney Shalishali to look at an 

ordinance.  Commissioner Gaines said the Board should address what was done to mitigate 

increasing the millage rate.  She also said that she was not sure why Pay Study B was 

implemented in which she is not criticizing the Board or staff, but she feels that she did not 

do enough.  Commissioner Johnson spoke about the vote for the millage rate and expressed 

his concerns about the distribution and media release of the transition guide (for the new 

7

Item 5a.



 

 

Chairman).  Commissioner Gray stated that he appreciated the evolution of the resource 

guide that was given to the Commission (by Mrs. Ware) and it is still evolving to help 

people coming on board.  He added that he understood that the Board had to make a hard 

decision [pertaining to the millage rate].  A very lengthy conversation ensued about moving 

forward.  Chairman Cohilas gave pointed comments regarding the millage rate and 

concerns regarding disparity.  

 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at  

1:20 p.m.   
 

 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

8

Item 5a.



 

 

 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 

September 12, 2022 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty Government 

Center on September 12, 2022.  Chairman Christopher Cohilas presided and called the meeting 

to order at 10:00 a.m.  Present were Commissioners Victor Edwards, Russell Gray,  

Clinton Johnson, Anthony Jones, and Ed Newsome.  Also present were County Administrator 

Michael McCoy, Assistant County Administrator Scott Addison, County Attorney  

Alex Shalishali, Deputy County Clerk Bristeria Hope, and other staff.  The public and 

representatives of the media participated in person and via live streaming of the meeting on the 

County’s Facebook page and the government public access channel.  Commissioner  

Gloria Gaines was absent. 

 

After the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance, the Chairman called for approval of the minutes 

of the August 9th Special Called Meeting, August 15th Regular Meeting and August 15th Public 

Hearing.  

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Edwards, the 

minutes were unanimously approved. 

 

The Chairman recognized representatives from ASPIRE Behavioral Health and Developmental 

Disability Services to receive the proclamation recognizing September as Recovery Month and 

recognize Daniel Fleuren and Marlisa Nixon as the 2022 GA Recovers Billboard Ambassadors.  

Mr. Fleuren said that he was a recovering addict and he appreciated the Board for their support 

with ASPIRE.  It was mentioned that an event will take place on September 24th titled “Recovery 

in the Streets” at 117 Pine Avenue where family and friends can come out and enjoy the 

festivities.  Mrs. Nixon expressed her gratitude as well.  The proclamation read as follows:  

 

 

RECOVERY MONTH 2022 PROCLAMATION 

 

WHEREAS, behavioral health is an essential part of health and one’s overall 

wellness; and 

  

WHEREAS, recovery from alcohol and other drug use occurs every day through a 

variety of recovery support resources and treatment programs; and 

  

WHEREAS, prevention of mental and substance use disorders works, treatment is 

effective, and people recover across Georgia and around the nation; and 

  

9

Item 5a.



 

 

WHEREAS, millions of people across the United States are in long-term recovery 

living happy, healthy, and productive lives; and 

 

WHEREAS, the 2022 Recovery Month theme, “Recovery is For Everyone: Every 

Person, Every Family, Every Community,” reminds people in recovery and those 

who support them that no one is alone in the journey through recovery. Everyone’s 

journey is different, but we are all in this together, and 

 

WHEREAS, education about recovery and addiction is essential to combating the 

stigma and discrimination faced by people in recovery is needed by all Georgians 

including public health and safety officials, the workforce, older adults, and families; 

and 

  

WHEREAS, to help more people achieve and sustain long-term recovery, the U.S. 

Department of Health and Human Services, the Substance Abuse and Mental Health 

Services Administration, the White House Office of National Drug Control Policy, 

Alcohol and Drug Abuse Certification Board of Georgia, the Association of 

Community Service Boards, the Department of Behavioral Health and 

Developmental Disabilities, the Georgia Addiction Counselors Association, the 

Georgia Association of Recovery Residencies, and the Georgia Council on 

Substance Abuse, invite all residents of the State of Georgia to participate 

in National Recovery Month; 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Christopher S. Cohilas, Chairman of the Dougherty County 

Commission, by virtue of the authority vested in me by the laws of Dougherty 

County, GA, do hereby proclaim the month of September 2022 as “RECOVERY 

MONTH” in Dougherty County, GA.  I further call upon our citizens, government 

agencies, public and private institutions, businesses and schools of Dougherty 

County, GA to commit to increasing awareness and understanding, fighting stigma 

and discrimination and promoting the observation of this month with appropriate 

programs, activities, and ceremonies to support this year’s Recovery Month theme, 

Recovery is For Everyone: Every Person, Every Family, Every Community”. 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the seal of 

Dougherty County, GA to be affixed on this 12th day of September, in the year of 

our Lord two thousand twenty-two. 

 

      BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

      __________________________________ 

      Christopher S. Cohilas, Chairman 

 

 

10

Item 5a.



 

 

The Chairman recognized Citizen Gloria Baker to accept the proclamation recognizing 

September as Alopecia Awareness Month.  Ms. Baker thanked the Board for the proclamation.  

The proclamation read as follows: 

 

ALOPECIA AWARENESS MONTH 

 

WHEREAS, alopecia is an auto-immune condition for which there is no cure that causes cells to 

attack hair follicles that thereby cause hair loss and affects approximately two percent of the 

population of all races and ages, but most commonly affects children and young adults; 

 

WHEREAS, a significant number of citizens of Dougherty County currently suffer from alopecia 

and have formed a support group to share their experiences and provide resources to one another; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Dougherty County citizen, Gloria Baker, who has been battling alopecia since 2003, 

and is a member of a support group that assists women and children in the Dougherty County 

suffering from alopecia, requested that the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, 

Georgia declare the month of September Alopecia Awareness Month; 

 

WHEREAS Dougherty County, Georgia is desirous of declaring the month of September 

Alopecia Awareness Month; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, 

Georgia and it is hereby proclaimed by Authority of same that September shall be recognized as 

Alopecia Awareness Month. 

 

 This the 12th day of September 2022. 

       

        

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF  

DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

       

      BY:____________________________________ 

      CHRISTOPHER S. COHILAS, Chairman 

Dougherty County Commission 

 

The Chairman recognized Kirby Glaze, President, Community Development Partners to provide 

an update on a potential public/private partnership to redevelop county-owned property 

(approximately 17 acres) located at 1500 N. Jefferson Street.  Mr. Glaze provided an update to 

the Board and said that he had a conversation with the developer that has done residential 

development for the site.  He shared other resources and information pertaining to private-public 

partnership management and outlined the process needed for the county to proceed.  Mr. Glaze 

addressed Commissioner Jones’ questions about the market study.  Chairman Cohilas 

recommended scheduling a phone conference with Jana Dyke and Commissioner Johnson, 

11

Item 5a.



 

 

representing the Economic Development Commission.  Afterwards, he will meet with  

Mr. McCoy to determine how to best proceed with the next steps for redevelopment. 

 

The Chairman recognized William Wright, the representative for AFRAM Tech, Inc. to provide 

his concerns on the utilization of the 17 acres on Jefferson Street. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the amendment of the 

employment agreement between Dougherty County, GA and Dougherty County Police Chief 

Kenneth Johnson.  County Administrator Michael McCoy addressed.  Mr. McCoy recommended 

approval for the new salary for the Police Chief as a result of the pay study.  The pay study 

revealed that the Assistant Chief will be making more money than the Chief if his salary was not 

increased.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, the motion 

for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 22-042 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT OF THE EMPLOYMENT 

AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA AND KENNETH JOHNSON; REPEALING 

RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

Commissioner Johnson wanted to send prayers to the family of Johnny Williams “Rabbit Man” 

who had passed away.  He said that there will be an expansion of behavioral crisis centers and 

co-responders across the state and added that billing for EMS will be changed and will not be set 

to start until the 11th mile of driving.  He addressed Mr. Wright's information by saying that most 

of the information was incorrect and later requested a moment of silence for Queen Elizabeth’s 

death.  He asked for information to understand the City of Albany’s IGA [Intergovernmental 

Agreement] discussed in a previous Recreation Committee Meeting.  Commissioner Johnson 

said that he would like to have a Recreation Committee Meeting with the City of Albany’s 

Director of Recreation and Parks Steven Belk.  Mr. McCoy shared that the staff has 

recommendations for changing the parking policy.  Commissioner Edwards asked for the Horace 

King display to be refurbished.  Public Information Officer Wendy Howell said that the redesign 

is currently in process.  Commissioner Gray asked what could be done to facilitate a public-

private partnership and he would love to have a discussion on this option.  Commissioner Johnson 

asked if Phoebe Putney Memorial Hospital President and CEO Scott Steiner would be present to 

provide additional insight on the discussion of current matters.  Chairman Cohilas said that 

Dougherty County needs to consider the level of involvement with the Marine Base Logistics 

and how they are a vital component of our economic impact.  

 

  

12

Item 5a.



 

 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at  

11:15 a.m. 

 

 

_______________________________ 

 

CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

13

Item 5a.



A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT TO THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA TO ADD ORDINANCE 

SETTING FORTH REGULATIONS FOR APPROVAL, SITING, DESIGN, 

INSTALLATION AND OPERATION OF WIND ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEMS 

AND TESTING FACILITIES AS LAND USE IN DOUGHERTY COUNTY AND TO 

PROTECT THE GENERAL PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE IN THE 

DEVELOPMENT, IMPLEMENTATION AND OPERATION OF LAND USE IN THE 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY, REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF 

RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH;  

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia ordered by 

resolution the adoption of the Code of Ordinances of Dougherty County, Georgia on September 8, 

1993, which has since remained codified and in effect; 

 

 WHEREAS, due to inquiries from potential investors about the possible construction and 

operation of Wind Energy Conservation Systems, Planning and Development Services has 

identified a need to establish regulations for approval, siting, design, installation and operation of 

wind energy conversion systems and testing facilities as a land use in Dougherty County and to 

protect the general public health, safety, and welfare in the development, implementation and 

operation of the land use in Dougherty County;  

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty County, Georgia is hereby 

desirous of establishing regulations governing approval, siting, design, installation and operation 

of wind energy conversion systems and testing facilities as a land use in Dougherty County and to 

protect the general public health, safety, and welfare in the development, implementation and 

operation of the land use in Dougherty County.  

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Dougherty 

County, Georgia and it is hereby resolved by Authority of same as follows: 

 

 SECTION I      That Section 2-18 of the Code of Ordinances, Dougherty County, Georgia, 

is hereby amended to add Section 2-18-6, which shall be titled “Wind Energy Conservation 

Systems Regulations,” to be read as set out in full as attached hereto, is hereby approved.  

 

 SECTION II    All Resolutions or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 This the 3rd day of October, 2022. 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

       DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

       BY:______________________________ 

           Christopher S. Cohilas, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________ 

County Clerk 

14

Item 7a.



 

 

Proposed Provision to Code of Ordinances of Dougherty County, 

Georgia to be added as Section 2-18-6 and titled “Wind Energy 

Conversion Systems Regulations” 

1. Purpose 

A. The provisions herein are set forth to establish regulations for the siting, design, installation 

and operation of wind energy conversion systems (WECS) and testing facilities as a land use in 

Dougherty County (“County”) and to protect the general public health, safety, and welfare in 

the development, implementation and operation of the land use in the County. 

2. Definitions 

A. Abandoned shall mean any WECS or WECS Testing Facility that is not operated or is found to 

be inoperable due to lack of repair, sustained damage or other cause for a continuous period of 

ninety (90) days. 

B. Ambient Sound Level shall mean the decibel measurement or dB(A) of background sound 

pressure level exceeded 90% of the time or L90(t) at a given location prior to the installation of 

a WECS. 

C. Decibel shall mean the unit of measurement used to express magnitude of sound pressure 

and sound intensity. 

D. dB(A) shall mean the sound pressure level in decibels in the “A” weighted scale defined by 

ANSI. A method for weighting the frequency spectrum to mimic the human ear. 

E. Height is defined as the vertical distance measured from the ground level at the base of the 

tower to the uppermost vertical extension of any blade, or the maximum height reached by any 

part of the WECS, whichever is greater. 

F. Hub Height shall mean the vertical distance measured from ground level to the center of the 

turbine hub. 

G. Lmax shall mean the maximum sound level at an instant in time. 

H. L90(s) is a statistical descriptor of the sound level exceeded 90% of the time of measurement 

period (t). This is considered to represent background noise without the source in question.  

I. Manual and Automatic Controls are mechanical measures to limit rotation of WECS blades so 

as not to exceed the designed limits of the conversion system. 

J. Professional Engineer shall mean an engineer licensed in the State of Georgia, knowledgeable 

in all aspects of operation/ maintenance of wind turbines, and acceptable to the Dougherty 

County Planning Commission. 

15

Item 7a.



 

 

K. Participating and Non-Participating Parcels: 

1. Participating Parcel shall mean a parcel of record that is to be used, occupied, 

maintained, let, leased or authorized to be used for any purposes of developing a WECS, 

including construction of improvements, providing access to improvements, or to meet 

requirements and regulations set forth herein. 

2. Non-Participating Parcel shall mean a parcel of record that is not a Participating 

Parcel. 

L. Shadow Flicker shall mean the alternating changes in light intensity caused by the moving 

blade of a WECS casting shadows on the ground and/or structures. 

M. Sound Pressure shall mean the average rate at which sound energy is transmitted through a 

unit area in a specified direction. The pressure of the sound measured at a receiver. 

N. Sound Pressure Level shall mean the sound pressure mapped to a logarithmic scale and 

reported in decibels. 

O. Wind Energy Conversion System (“WECS”) shall mean any structural device (such as a wind 

generator, windmill, or wind turbine) that measures and/or converts wind into electricity 

through the use of specialized equipment, and includes both (1.) horizontal axis wind energy 

system design in which the shaft is parallel to the ground and the blades are perpendicular to 

the ground; and (2.) vertical axis wind energy system design where the rotating shaft is 

perpendicular to the ground and the cups or blades rotate parallel to the ground. Also included 

in the definition are the associated improvements for the transmission of electrical energy to 

the electrical utility grid. Forms of WECS include: 

1. Agricultural WECS shall mean any WECS that is accessory to a permitted farm or 

agricultural operation and is designed and built to directly and immediately serve the 

needs of the farm or agricultural operation. 

2. Private WECS shall mean any WECS that is accessory to a principal non-agricultural 

use located on the same lot and is designed and built to serve the principal use. Excess 

electricity generation may be sold to a utility but shall not exceed fifty (50) percent of 

the principal use’s monthly electricity use or such WECS shall be considered a 

Commercial WECS. 

3. Commercial WECS shall mean any WECS and associated accessory structures that are 

designed and built to primarily provide electricity to the electric utility’s power grid. The 

Commercial WECS is a principal use of property and may occupy the same property as 

another principal use. 

4. Commercial WECS Farm shall mean an electricity generating operation consisting of 

two or more Commercial WECS under common ownership, control, or operation, and 

includes substations, testing facilities, transmission lines and other buildings accessory 

16

Item 7a.



 

 

to such operation, whose main purpose is to supply electricity to the energy grid and 

off-site customers or consumers. 

P. WECS Testing Facility shall mean the structure and equipment erected and used to 

determine the potential for the placement of one or more WECS improvements and contains 

instrumentation, such as anemometers or other meteorological devices, designed to provide 

wind speeds and other data. 

3. Application Requirements 

A. In addition to any previously described information, permit applications for a Commercial 

WECS or Commercial WECS Farm shall including the following information:  

1.A narrative overview describing the project; 

2. The proposed total rated capacity of the WECS; 

3. The specific number, representative types and height or range of heights of wind 

turbines to be constructed; including their rated capacity, dimensions and respective 

manufacturers and a description of ancillary facilities; 

4. Map of the properties on which the proposed WECS will be located; 

5. A site plan showing the planned location of all wind turbines, property lines, setback 

lines, access roads and turnout locations, substation(s), electrical cabling from the WECS 

to the substation(s), ancillary equipment, building(s), transmission and distribution lines. 

The site plan must also include the location of all structures and property lines, 

demonstrating compliance with all applicable setbacks; 

6. Any other Environmental Assessment required by state or federal agencies; 

7. Description and documentation of agreements between participating landowner(s) 

and the applicant; and 

8. Signature of the applicant. 

B. Throughout the permit process, the applicant shall promptly notify Dougherty County of any 

proposed changes to the information contained in the permit application that would materially 

alter the impact of the project. 

C. Changes to the approved application that do not materially alter the initial site plan may be 

administratively approved by the Albany Dougherty Planning Department. 

 

 

 

17

Item 7a.



 

 

 

 

4. Approval Required 

A. It shall be unlawful to construct, erect, install, use, or locate any WECS within the jurisdiction 

of Dougherty County without receiving Special Approval from the Dougherty County 

Commission pursuant to this Ordinance. 

B. Agricultural WECS that are accessory to established farm and agricultural operations are 

permitted by right and shall be exempt from the general standards, provisions and 

requirements of this section except setback requirements. Agricultural WECS projects shall 

otherwise conform to the regulations of the zoning district for an agricultural accessory 

structure, including maximum height. Such compliance shall be verified upon application. 

C. Private WECS are permitted by right and are subject to administrative site plan review and 

approval to determine compliance with the general standards, provisions and requirements of 

this Ordinance. 

D. Commercial WECS are permitted by Special Approval of the Dougherty County Commission 

in the following districts: AG, M-1, M-2.  

E. Temporary WECS Testing Facilities are permitted by Administrative Approval and require a 

detailed site plan and written plan describing the duration of the testing. These shall be 

considered temporary improvements and shall be limited in duration to no more than two (2) 

years from the date of Administrative Approval. Continuation of operation beyond two (2) 

years shall require the Special Approval of the Dougherty County Commission. 

1. If multiple WECS are proposed as a coordinated development or as a Commercial 

WECS Farm and it is necessary that a WECS Testing Facility be erected to monitor 

meteorological conditions for the life of a Commercial WECS project, such WECS Testing 

Facility shall be included as part of the Special Approval process for the Commercial 

WECS Farm. 

2. The applicant shall provide general information regarding the extent of the area 

under study that will be served by the test results from a WECS Testing Facility. An 

application for special use permit and final site plan shall contain information required 

pursuant to Article 12 for special use permit approval, Article 14 for final site plan 

approval, and other information as required in this section and in this Ordinance. 

5. General Standards. The following requirements and standards shall apply to all WECS Testing 

Facilities and WECS unless specifically excluded: 

A. Sound Levels. 

18

Item 7a.



 

 

1. An applicant for a Commercial WECS shall provide a study and report declaring the 

ambient and potential sound created by a Commercial WECS. The study should 

specifically address sound created by a Commercial WECS at Non-Participating Parcel 

boundaries and along property lines between Participating and Nonparticipating 

Parcels. The study and report must be produced with the most current protocol for ANSI 

S12.9, Part 3, ANSI S12.100 and other applicable ANSI standards and methodology for 

the measurement of sound to the extent that those standards and methods are 

applicable to providing accurate and substantive information for review by the Planning 

Commission. This study and report must be certified by a qualified and certified 

acoustician and include the following: 

a) A description and map of the existing land uses and structures within one (1) 

mile of a proposed Commercial WECS. The description and map shall include the 

location of structures, their use or uses, distances from a source of sound or 

WECS and ambient decibel readings (including the date and time when 

measurements are taken) for each identified land use and structure described 

and mapped. 

b) A description and map of the sound producing features of each Commercial 

WECS, including the range of decibel levels expected (measured in dB(A)) and 

the basis for the expectation. 

c) A detailed description of the proposed sound control features for each 

Commercial WECS, including specific measures to minimize sound to meet 

requirements herein. 

2. An applicant for a private WECS shall provide documentation from the manufacturer 

in lieu of the above study and report. 

3. The sound generated from a Private or Commercial WECS shall not exceed forty-five 

(45) dB(A) Lmax at any Non-Participating Parcel boundary. 

B. Height. 

1. Private WECS shall not exceed one hundred (100) feet in height. 

2. Commercial WECS and WECS Test Facilities do not have a maximum height. 

3. Compliance with FAA regulations shall be verified by the applicant. 

C. Setbacks 

1. Property Line Setbacks. 

a) WECS Testing Facilities and Commercial WECS shall not be subject to property 

line setbacks between Participating Parcels. 

19

Item 7a.



 

 

b) All WECS Testing Facilities shall maintain a setback from Non-Participating 

Parcel property lines a distance equal to or greater than one hundred twenty 

(120) percent of its height as measured from the base of the structure to the 

nearest Non-Participating Parcel property line. 

c) All Private and agricultural WECS shall maintain a property line setback from a 

Non-Participating Parcel property line a distance equal to or greater than one 

hundred fifty (150) percent of its height as measured from the base of the 

structure to the nearest Non-Participating Parcel property line. 

d) All Commercial WECS shall maintain a setback from a Non-Participating Parcel 

property line a distance equal to or greater than two hundred fifty (250) percent 

of its height as measured from the base of the structure to a Non-Participating 

Parcel property line. 

2. Principal and Accessory Structure Setbacks on Participating Parcels. 

a) All WECS Testing Facilities and WECS shall maintain a setback of one hundred-

ten (110) percent of its height as measured from the base of the structure to the 

exterior wall of a principal structure on a Participating Parcel that is used for 

residential, commercial or assembly purposes. 

b) For accessory structures, the Planning Commission may, at its discretion, allow 

a setback that is less than one hundred-ten (110) percent of a WECS Testing 

Facility or Commercial WECS height as measured from the base of the structure 

to the exterior wall of accessory structures on a Participating Parcel, depending 

on the current use of such accessory structures and potential impact on the use 

of those accessory structures. 

3. Public Rights-of-Way. All WECS Testing Facilities and WECS must be setback a distance 

equal to or greater than one hundred twenty (120) percent of the height of the 

structure as measured from the base of the structure to a public road or railroad right-

of-way. No setback is required from a drainage right-of-way. 

4. Existing Utility Lines. All WECS Testing Facilities and WECS must be setback a distance 

equal to or greater than one hundred (100) percent of the height of the structure as 

measured from the base of the structure to an existing above-ground public electric 

power line, telephone line or under-ground gas transmission line, unless said utility 

owner provides a waiver of such setback. Utility lines implemented as part of the 

application for a WECS Testing Facility or WECS, or those utility lines installed after the 

approval of a WECS Testing Facility or WECS, shall be exempt from meeting this 

requirement. 

D. Shadow Flicker. 

20

Item 7a.



 

 

1. Commercial WECS shall be designed, sited, operated, and equipped with proven 

technology as to eliminate shadow flicker on any Non-Participating Parcel. 

2. Shadow Flicker Impact Analysis. The applicant shall provide a study identifying 

through modeling the potential impact of shadow flicker that may be caused by a 

Commercial WECS and the expected durations of the shadow flicker from sunrise to 

sunset over the course of a calendar year. The area of study for modeling purposes shall 

be for a distance of no less than twenty (20) times the rotor diameter of each 

Commercial WECS. 

3. Site plans and associated documents and drawings submitted as part of the Special 

Approval shall identify measures to be taken to meet the requirements herein. 

E. Decommissioning. WECS Testing Facilities and Commercial WECS considered under this 

Section must contain a Decommissioning Plan acceptable to the Planning Commission to ensure 

that structures and appurtenances are properly decommissioned upon the end of their 

operational life, cessation of use, or determination that WECS facilities are determined 

Abandoned. 

1. A Decommissioning Plan shall be submitted for review and approval detailing how 

facilities and improvements will be decommissioned, a Professional Engineer’s 

estimated cost of decommissioning, the financial resources to be used to accomplish 

decommissioning, and the surety bond holder with which the financial resources shall 

be deposited for use by the County to implement the Decommissioning Plan upon 

failure of the owner or operator to implement upon cessation of use or determination 

of being Abandoned. 

2. If it is alleged by the Planning Commission that a Commercial WECS or WECS Testing 

Facility is Abandoned, written notice shall be provided to the owner or operator of a 

hearing before the Dougherty County Commission to consider evidence and determine 

if the WECS or WECS Testing Facility is Abandoned. If a determination is made that 

WECS facilities are Abandoned, the Dougherty County Commission shall provide the 

owner and/or operator of such determination and obligations of the owner and/or 

operator of the standards and conditions of the special use permit regarding a 

determination of Abandoned facilities. 

3. Within ninety (90) days of the above hearing where the Dougherty County 

Commission has determined that a WECS or WECS Testing Facility is abandoned, the 

owner or operator shall implement the Decommissioning Plan, and obtain a demolition 

permit to remove the WECS or WECS Testing Facility. 

a) Failure to obtain a demolition permit within the time period provided in this 

subsection shall be grounds for the County to remove the WECS or WECS Testing 

Facility at the owner’s and/or operator’s expense. 

21

Item 7a.



 

 

b) If a WECS or WECS Testing Facility is repaired, a Professional Engineer (hired 

at the expense of the owner or operator) shall certify the safety of the WECS 

Testing Facility or WECS prior to the resumption of operation. 

4. Decommissioning shall include removal of all equipment associated with the WECS or 

WECS Testing Facility including all materials above ground and below ground to a depth 

of four (4) feet below average grade in the immediate surrounding area. The site shall 

be restored to a condition that reflects the specific character of the site including 

topography, vegetation, soils, and drainage.  

a) Restoration shall include road repair, if any, and all re-grading, soil 

stabilization, and re-vegetation necessary to return the subject property to a 

stable condition consistent with conditions existing prior to establishment of the 

wind energy system. Upon written request by the property owner, access drives 

and associated drainage improvements, if any, may continue to exist. 

b) The restoration process shall comply with all federal state, and county 

regulations, including but not limited to local erosion control, soil stabilization 

and/or runoff requirements or ordinances and shall be completed within one (1) 

year. 

c) Extensions may be granted upon request to the Planning Commission prior to 

the expiration of the one (1) year requirement for decommissioning to be 

completed. 

5. The Decommissioning Plan shall also include an agreement between the owner or 

operator and the County that includes, but is not limited to, the following conditions: 

a) The financial resources for decommissioning shall be in the form of a surety 

bond or letter of credit with a replenishment obligation and shall be deposited in 

an escrow account acceptable to Dougherty County. 

b) The surety bond for decommissioning shall be one hundred fifty percent 

(150%) of the estimated removal and restoration cost, with an annual increase 

by the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”). The Planning Commission may require 

independent verification of the adequacy of this amount from a Professional 

Engineer. 

c) The Planning Commission shall review the amounts deposited for removal, site 

restoration, and administration costs annually, to ensure they are adequate for 

these purposes. The Planning Commission as part of the special use permit may 

reasonably increase the surety amount of the previous year’s total financial 

resource. 

22

Item 7a.



 

 

d) Dougherty County shall have access to the escrow account funds for the 

expressed purpose of completing decommissioning under the Decommissioning 

Plan. If decommissioning is not completed by the owner or operator within one 

(1) year upon the termination of the project, determination of a WECS being 

inoperable or Abandoned as described above, action shall be taken to draw upon 

the escrow account for administrative fees and costs associated with 

decommissioning pursuant to the Decommissioning Plan. 

e) The County is granted the right of entry onto the site, pursuant to reasonable 

notice to the property owner, to effect or complete decommissioning pursuant 

to the Decommissioning Plan. 

f) The County is granted the right to seek injunctive relief to effect or complete 

decommissioning, as well as the County’s right to seek reimbursement from the 

owner or operator for decommissioning costs in excess of the surety bond 

amount, and to file a lien against any real estate owned by the owner or 

operator, or in which they have an interest, for the amount of the excess, and to 

take all steps allowed by law to enforce said lien. 

F. Enforcement: The enforcement of the Ordinance shall be the responsibility of the Director of 

Planning and Development Services (Director), or his or her designee, or as otherwise 

appointed, directed, or hired by the Dougherty Board of Commissioners. 

1. An owner or operator, landowner, firm, association, corporation, or representative 

agent of any WECS Testing Facility or WECS that is found by Dougherty County to be in 

violation of the special use permit, or to be Abandoned or unsafe as defined in this 

Ordinance: 

a) Shall provide abatement by repair, or removal of the wind energy system 

upon written notification from the Director (or another County designee). 

b) Shall be subject to all enforcement mechanisms available to the County. 

c) May be required to reimburse Dougherty County for cost(s) and expenses of 

obtaining other relief including a temporary or permanent injunction; such 

reimbursement may include costs and reasonable attorney fees. 

2. Annual Inspection. All WECS Testing Facilities and WECS shall be inspected annually 

by a Professional Engineer to certify that each structure is in good working condition 

and not a hazard to the public. An annual report shall be submitted to the Director. 

3. Should an aggrieved Dougherty County resident allege that a WECS is not in 

compliance with the requirements of this Ordinance, the procedure shall be as follows: 

a) Complaints must be submitted to the Director, or his or her designee, in 

writing from the affected resident, and include their name, address, contact 

23

Item 7a.



 

 

information. If the affected resident does not own the property allegedly being 

subjected to violations of the Ordinance, the name, address and contact 

information for the owner of that parcel shall be provided. 

b) Upon investigation by the Director, or his or her designee, if a complaint is 

deemed credible, the owner or operator of the WECS Testing Facility or WECS 

shall be notified in writing. Within fourteen (14) calendar days of the date of 

notice, the owner(s) and/or operator of the WECS Testing Facility or WECS shall 

provide a statement of compliance or non-compliance. As part of the Special 

Approval, an annual escrow account (reviewable on an annual basis) shall be 

established sufficient to pay for independent investigations conducted by 

qualified professionals acceptable to the County to determine compliance with 

the requirements of this Ordinance. 

c) If the WECS Testing Facility or WECS is found to be in violation of the 

Ordinance and/or this Section, the owner or operator shall take immediate 

action to bring the WECS Testing Facility or WECS into compliance or cease 

operation of the WECS Testing Facility or WECS until compliance can be 

maintained. In the event the owner(s) and/or operator fails or refuses to bring 

the WECS Testing Facility or WECS into compliance within ten (10) days 

thereafter, the County may seek any relief by law afforded to it. 

G. Safety Measures. The following safety measures are to be implemented for Testing facilities 

and WECS. 

1. Controls and Brakes. All Private and Commercial WECS turbines shall be equipped 

with manual and automatic controls to limit rotation of blades to a speed below the 

designed limits of the Private or Commercial WECS. A Professional Engineer must certify 

that the rotor and over-speed control design and fabrication conform to applicable 

design standards. 

2. Building and Trade Codes. All WECS testing facilities and WECS shall meet applicable 

state and national construction codes (where applicable). 

3. Installation Certification. The Professional Engineer shall certify that the construction 

and installation of the WECS Testing Facility or WECS meets or exceeds the 

manufacturer’s construction and installation standards. 

4. Climb Prevention. All WECS Testing Facilities and WECS must be unclimbable by 

design or protected by anti-climbing devices. 

5. Fire Risk. All WECS Testing Facilities and WECS must adhere to all applicable electrical 

codes and standards, and shall remove fuel sources, such as vegetation, from the 

immediate vicinity of electrical equipment and connections.  

24

Item 7a.



 

 

6. Interference. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to submit acceptable 

documentation as part of the special use permit application to determine if the 

improvement would in any way cause interference with microwave transmissions, 

residential television reception or radio reception and to prevent such interference from 

occurring. The applicant shall also provide documentation that the location of the WECS 

Testing Facility and WECS will not interfere with the operation of existing WECS. 

7. Waste. All solid wastes, whether generated from supplies, equipment parts, 

packaging, operation, or maintenance of the WECS Testing Facility and WECS shall be 

removed from the site immediately and disposed of in an appropriate manner. All 

hazardous waste generated by the operation and maintenance of the improvement 

shall be removed from the site immediately and disposed of in a manner consistent with 

all local, state, and federal rules and regulations. 

8. Liability Insurance. The owner(s) or operator(s) of the WECS Testing Facility or WECS 

shall maintain a current liability insurance policy to cover installation and operation. For 

a Private WECS accessory to a principal residence, proof of homeowner's insurance with 

specific coverage for the Private WECS shall satisfy this requirement. 

9. The owner or operator shall notify the Director in writing within twenty-four (24) 

hours of an occurrence of a WECS Testing Facility or WECS collapse, failure, fire, 

collector or feeder line failure, or injury to person or property caused by the WECS or 

WECS Testing Facility. See E.3 for notice of repair  

H. Additional Considerations. 

1. No WECS or WECS Testing Facility shall have advertising or signage of any kind unless 

required by standards referenced in this Section for purposes of safety or operation. 

a) A Commercial WECS or WECS Testing Facility shall not have lighting of any 

kind unless required by standards referenced in this Section or of the Federal 

Aviation Administration (“FAA”) for purposes of safety or operation. If lighting of 

a Commercial WECS or WECS Testing Facility is required, lighting shall be 

controlled by an aircraft detection lighting system which activates or deactivates 

warning lights depending on the presence of aircraft unless otherwise restricted 

or prohibited by the FAA. 

2. Color and Appearance. Structures and improvements shall be painted a neutral color 

that is acceptable to Dougherty County or otherwise required by law. The main 

structure of any WECS shall be of a monopole (tubular) design. 

J. Compliance with Federal Rules and Regulations. 

25

Item 7a.



 

 

1. It shall be the responsibility of the owner(s) or operator of the WECS Testing Facility 

or Commercial WECS to complete the proper FAA applications and obtain the proper 

permits, where applicable, for the construction of such improvements. 

2. Compliance with Additional Regulations. It shall be the responsibility of the owner(s) 

or operator of a Commercial WECS to contact the FAA regarding additional permits 

necessary or any other applicable Federal or State regulations for the installation, prior 

to granting of a special use permit by the Planning Commission. 

3.Documentation that applicable permits have been obtained and requirements of 

these agencies have been met must be supplied to the County Building Department 

prior to the issuance of construction permits. 

K. Studies. 

1. Migratory and Game Birds. An avian study is required to be conducted by a qualified 

professional to determine any potential impacts one or more Commercial WECS may 

present to migratory and game birds. As part of the special use permit application, the 

study and its results must provide assurances that a Commercial WECS does not 

negatively impact the path of migratory birds or the viability of game birds. 

2. Endangered Species. An endangered species study is required and is to be conducted 

by a qualified professional to determine any potential impacts the Commercial WECS 

may present to endangered species. The study as part of the special use permit 

application must provide assurances that the Commercial WECS does not negatively 

impact endangered species. 

L. Administrative Provisions Following Approval. 

1. An approved special use permit for a Commercial WECS or Commercial WECS Farm 

shall expire if construction of a Commercial WECS or Commercial WECS Farm has not 

commenced within thirty-six (36) months from the date of issuance. Commencement 

shall mean the erection of a Commercial WECS structure. 

2. Amendment to Site Location Following Special Use Permit and Final Site Plan 

Approval. The Zoning Administrator may approve changes in location of Commercial 

WECS and WECS Test Facilities as minor site plan modifications so long as such site 

location is not altered more than one hundred (100) feet, continues to meet all 

regulations of this Section, and the improvement remains on the same parcel. 

26

Item 7a.



27

Item 8a.



28

Item 9a.



29

Item 9a.



30

Item 9a.



31

Item 9a.



32

Item 9a.



33

Item 9a.



34

Item 9a.



35

Item 9a.



36

Item 9a.



37

Item 9a.



38

Item 9a.



39

Item 9a.



40

Item 9a.



41

Item 9a.



42

Item 9a.



Sjdibse!F/!Evoo-!Ejsfdups

FQE!Ejsfdupst!Pggjdf
3!Nbsujo!Mvuifs!Ljoh-!Ks/!Esjwf! 
Tvjuf!2567-!Fbtu!Upxfs
Bumboub-!Hfpshjb!41445
515.767.5824

HB! 

SF; Ib{bsepvt!Xbtuf!Usvtu!Gvoe!Bqqmjdbujpo!gps!Sfjncvstfnfou! 
ITJ$21!

EfbsNs/; 

Uijt!mfuufs!jt!jo!sftqpotf!up!zpvs!sfrvftu!gps!sfjncvstfnfou!gspn!uif!Ib{bsepvt!Xbtuf!Usvtu!Gvoe! 
gps!dptut!tqfou!jowftujhbujoh!boe!dmfbojoh!vq!zpvs!mboegjmm/!Pvs!sfwjfx!tipxt!uibu!zpv!ibwf! 

jo!fmjhjcmf!dptut/ 

Jo!psefs!gps!zpv!up!sfdfjwf!uijt!gvoejoh-!qmfbtf!sfuvso!uif!gpmmpxjoh!jufnt!up!FQE!uijsuz!)41*!ebzt! 
gspn!uif!ebuf!pg!uif!mfuufs;!! 

Pof!tjhofe!)fmfduspojd!tjhobuvsft!bsf!tvggjdjfou*!boe!dfsujgjfe!dpqz!pg!b!sftpmvujpo- 
bvuipsj{joh!uif!Dibjsnboup!fyfdvuf!uif!dpousbdu/!!Zpv!nbz!vtf!uif!buubdife!npefm
sftpmvujpo!ps!esbgu!pof!pg!zpvs!pxo<!boe

Pof!tjhofe!)fmfduspojd!tjhobuvsft!bsf!tvggjdjfou*boe!buuftufe!psjhjobm!pg!uif!dpousbdu- 
Bhsffnfou!Hpwfsojoh!Fyqfoejuvsft!gps!Tubuf!'!Mpdbm!Hpwfsonfou!Dptut/

Podf!FQE!sfdfjwft!cpuijufnt!cbdl!jo!qspqfs!gpsn-!xf!xjmm!fyfdvuf!uif!dpousbdu-!boe!sfuvso!b!dpqz! 
up!zpv/! 

Jg!zpv!ibwf!boz!rvftujpot!sfhbsejoh!uif!fodmptfe!epdvnfout-!qmfbtf!dpoubdu!Nt/!Lfmmz!Ljudifotbu! 
881*473.8467/ 

Tjodfsfmz- 

Sjdibse!F/!Evoo! 
Ejsfdups

Fodmptvsft;!2!Psjhjobm!Dpousbdu! 
2!Npefm!Sftpmvujpo! 

43

Item 10a.



AGREEMENT GOVERNING EXPENDITURES
FORSTATE & LOCALGOVERNMENT COSTS

ThisAgreementmadeandenteredintothis ______ dayof ________________, 20 __ byandbetweentheGeorgiaDepartmentof
NaturalResources, EnvironmentalProtectionDivision (hereinafter, “EPD”), andDoughertyCounty, Georgia, byandthroughits
Board, pursuanttoResolutionpassed _______________, 20__ (hereinafter, “APPLICANT”).  

I. RECITALS

WHEREAS, theHazardousWasteTrustFund (“HWTF”) hasbeencontinuedinexistencebylawforthefulfillmentofcertain
environmentalpurposesanddeclaredpublicpolicyfortheStateofGeorgia (O.C.G.A. Section12-8-90etseq.); and

WHEREAS, theDirectorofEPDisauthorizedanddirectedbylawtoserveasTrusteeoftheHWTF; and

WHEREAS, theDirectorofEPD, inhiscapacityasTrusteeoftheHWTF, isauthorizedbylawtoexpendmoneysdepositedinthe
HWTF, inaccordancewithrulespromulgatedbytheBoardofNaturalResources, forfinancingofthestateandlocalshareofthecosts
associatedwiththeinvestigation, remediation, andpostclosurecareandmaintenanceofsitesplacedontheNationalPriorityList
pursuanttothefederalComprehensiveEnvironmentalResponse, Compensation, andLiabilityActof1980, asamended, orsites
placedontheHazardousSiteInventorypursuanttoO.C.G.A. Section12-8-97; and

WHEREAS, APPLICANTisa “localgovernment” asdefinedintheRulesoftheGeorgiaDepartmentofNaturalResources,  
EnvironmentalProtectionDivision (hereinafter, “EPDRules”), Rulenumber391-3-19-.09; and

WHEREAS, APPLICANThas, inaccordancewithEPDRule391-3-19-.09(2)(f), submittedanapplicationforfinancialassistancein
theformofreimbursementof “eligiblecosts” \[asdescribedinEPDRule391-3-19-.09(4)(a)\] heretoforeexpendedinconnectionwith
thatcertainsitemoreparticularlydescribedintheHWTFApplication: RequestforReimbursementdatedDecember6, 2021,  
incorporatedhereinandmadeaparthereof (hereinafter, “theSITE”); and

WHEREAS, APPLICANTisincompliancewiththeGeorgiaLocalGovernmentServicesDeliverystatutes; and

WHEREAS, APPLICANThasmetallfinancialassistanceeligibilityrequirementsassetforthinEPDRule391-3-19-.09(2); and

WHEREAS, EPDhascompleteditsreviewofAPPLICANT’Sapplicationforfinancialassistanceasabove-referenced; and,   

WHEREAS, EPDisreadyandwillingtoextendfinancialassistancetoAPPLICANTintheformofreimbursementtocovercertain
eligiblecosts, andAPPLICANTiswillingtoacceptsame, uponthetermsandconditionssetforthinPartIIbelow; and

WHEREAS, thepartiesheretoareauthorizedbylawtoenterintothisagreementatthistime;  

NOW, THEREFORE, inconsiderationofthemutualpromisesandothergoodandvaluableconsiderationsetforthbelow (thereceipt
andsufficiencyofwhichisacknowledgedbytherespectiveparties), thepartiesherebyagreeasfollows:  

II. TERMSANDCONDITIONS

A. SCOPEOFFINANCIALASSISTANCE
EPDherebyagreesAPPLICANTiseligibletoreceivereimbursementfromtheHazardousWasteTrustFund, pursuanttoO.C.G.A.  
12-8-95andEPDRule391-3-19-.09.    ThemaximumamountAPPLICANTmayreceivefromtheHWTFfor “eligiblecosts”  
expendedfortheSITE, pursuanttothisoranyotherAgreement, orcombinationofagreements, is $2,000,000.  APPLICANT’S
eligibilityforfuturefundingfromtheHazardousWasteTrustFundfortheSITEshallbereducedbytheamountoffundsactually
disbursedtoAPPLICANTpursuanttothisAgreement.   

1) “ReimbursedCosts”  

a) EPDherebyagreestoreimburseAPPLICANTforthose “eligiblecosts” heretoforeexpendedbyAPPLICANT,  
assetforthanddescribedinExhibit “B” attachedhereto (andincorporatedhereinandmadeaparthereof); foratotalsumof
111,280.91 (saidtotalsumhereinafterbeingreferredtoasthe “REIMBURSEDCOSTS”).  

44

Item 10a.



b) PaymentoftheREIMBURSEDCOSTStoAPPLICANTshallbemadeasfundsaremadeavailable.  

2) TheREIMBURSEDCOSTSactuallypaidtoAPPLICANTshallhereinafterbereferredtoas “theFINANCIAL
ASSISTANCE”.  

B.  PAYMENT

Thefollowingperson(s) areherebydesignatedasbeingauthorizedtoreceivepaymentsofFINANCIALASSISTANCEon
behalfofAPPLICANT:  

NAME:  CampbellSmith TITLE:  SolidWasteDirector
ADDRESS: 900GaissertRoad

Albany, GA31705

TELEPHONE#: (229) 430-3044

Theaboveperson(s) maybesubstitutedorchangedbyAPPLICANTuponwrittennoticetoEPDpursuanttoparagraph
below.  

C. TERM
UnlessearlierterminatedbyEPDpursuanttoParagraphJbelow, theinitialtermofthisAgreementshallbefortwo (2) yearsfromthe
dateofexecution.  

D. ACCOUNTINGRECORDS/RIGHTTOINSPECT

1) AccountingSystem/RecordsRetentionRequirements

APPLICANTshallmaintainanaccountingsystem, whichmeetstherequirementsoftheGovernmentAccountingStandards
Board (hereinafter "GASB").  Theaccountingsystemshallmaintainbooks, records, documents, andotherevidence, which
pertaintoandsufficientlysupport (inaccordancewithGASB) theFINANCIALASSISTANCEprovidedtoAPPLICANT
pursuanttothisAgreement (hereinaftercollectively, theRecords).  Accountingprocedures, policies, andtheRecordsshallbe
completelyopentoStateauditatanytimeduringandforaperiodoffive (5) yearsfromthedateofpaymentofany
respectiveitemofFINANCIALASSISTANCE, andAPPLICANTshallpreserveandmakeavailablesuchaccounting
procedures, policiesandtheRecordsduringsuchtimeperiod.  APPLICANTmay, withthepriorwrittenconsentofEPD, and
infulfillmentofitsobligationtoretaintheRecordsasrequiredbythisparagraph, substitutephotographs, microphotographs
orotherauthenticreproductionsoftheRecords, aftertheexpirationoftwo (2) yearsfollowingthedateofpaymentofthe
respectiveitemofFINANCIALASSISTANCEtowhichsuchRecordsrelate, unlessashorterperiodisauthorizedbyEPD
withtheconcurrenceoftheStateAuditororhisdulyauthorizedrepresentative.  PermissiontosubstitutetheRecordsas
providedhereinshallbewithinthesolediscretionofEPD.  

2) AuditRequirements

TheStatestandardsforauditsofcontractors, andprogramsconductedunderthisAgreementareapplicabletothissectionand
areincorporatedbyreferenceasthoughfullysetoutherein.  

E.  RIGHTTOINSPECTWORK
EPD, theStateAuditorofGeorgia, ortheirauthorizedrepresentativesshall, duringnormalbusinesshours, havetherighttoenterinto
thepremisesofAPPLICANTand/orallsubcontractors, orsuchotherplaceswheretheworkforwhichtheFINANCIAL
ASSISTANCEisprovidedhereinhasbeenperformed, forthepurposeofinspecting, monitoring, orotherwiseevaluatingsuchwork.   
Allinspectionsandevaluationsshallbeperformedinsuchamanneraswillnotundulydelaywork.  

F. DUTYTOCOMMUNICATE
APPLICANTwarrantsthatithasfullydisclosedtoEPDanyandallinformationorknowledgecurrentlywithinitspossessionor
controlrelatingtothesourcesof, andpotentiallyresponsiblepartiesforthereleaseof “regulatedsubstances” \[asthosetermsare
definedinEPDRule319-3-19-.02(2)\] attheSITE.  APPLICANTagreesthatintheeventanysuchadditionalinformationor
knowledgecomestoitsattention, orotherwisebecomesavailabletoitinthefuture, itwillpromptlyprovidesametoEPDinwriting.  

45

Item 10a.



G. RELATIONSHIPOFTHEPARTIES
NeitherAPPLICANTnoranyofitsagents, servants, employeesorsubcontractorsshallbecomeorbedeemedtobecomeanagent,  
servantoremployeeoftheStateofGeorgiaorEPDasaresultofthisAgreement.  Providedfurther, thisAgreementshallnotbe
construedsoastocreateapartnershiporjointventurebetweenAPPLICANTandEPDortheStateofGeorgia.  

H. TRADINGWITHSTATEEMPLOYEES
ThepartiescertifythatthisAgreementdoesnotandwillnotviolatetheprovisionsofO.C.G.A.  45-10-20etseq. inanyrespect.  

I.  INDEMNIFICATION
APPLICANTherebywaives, releases, relinquishes, dischargesandagreestoindemnify, protectandsaveharmlesstheStateof
Georgia (includingtheStateTortClaimsTrustFundandanyotherself-insurancefundestablishedand/ormaintainedbytheGeorgia
DepartmentofAdministrativeServicesonbehalfoftheState), EPDanditsDirector, theirofficersandemployees (hereinafter
collectivelyreferredtoas "Indemnities"), ofandfromanyandallclaims, demands, liabilities, loss, costsorexpensesforanylossor
damage (includingbodilyinjuryorpersonalinjuryincludingdeath, propertydamage, workers' compensationbenefits, employment
benefits, libel, slander, defamationofcharacter, andinvasionofprivacy) andattorneys' fees, causedby, growingoutof, orotherwise
happeninginconnectionwiththisAgreement, duetoanyactoromission (whetherintentionalornegligent, throughtheftorotherwise)  
onthepartofAPPLICANT, itsagents, employees, subcontractors,  orothersworkingatthedirectionofAPPLICANToronitsbehalf;  
orduetoanybreachofthisAgreement byAPPLICANT; orduetotheapplicationorviolationofanypertinentFederal, Stateorlocal
law, ruleorregulationbyAPPLICANT, itsagents, employees, subcontractors, orothersworkingatthedirectionofAPPLICANTor
onitsbehalf; orcausedbyanyotherperson.  

Thisindemnificationapplieswhether:  (i) theactivitiesinvolvethirdpartiesoremployeesoragentsofAPPLICANTorIndemnitees;  
ii) theIndemniteesareresponsibleforthesituationgivingrisetotheclaim; or (iii) aclaimresultsinamonetaryobligationthat

exceedsanycontractualcommitment.  

ThisindemnificationextendstothesuccessorsandassignsofAPPLICANT, andthisindemnificationandreleasesurvivesthe
terminationofthisAgreementandthedissolutionor, totheextentallowedbylaw, thebankruptcyofAPPLICANT.  

ThisindemnificationdoesnotapplytotheextentofthewillfulorwantonmisconductoftheIndemnitees, theirofficersoremployees.   
ThisindemnificationdoesnotapplytotheextentofthesolenegligenceoftheIndemnitees, theirofficersoremployees, concerning
activitieswithinthescopeofO.C.G.A. 13-8-2 (b) relativetotheconstruction, alteration, repair, ormaintenanceofabuildingstructure,  
appurtenances, andappliances, includingmoving, demolition, andexcavatingconnectedtherewith.  

IfandtotheextentsuchdamageorlossascoveredbythisindemnificationiscoveredbytheStateTortClaimsFundoranyotherself- 
insurancefundestablishedandmaintainedbytheGeorgiaDepartmentofAdministrativeServicesonbehalfoftheState (collectively,  
the "Funds"), APPLICANTagreestoreimbursetheFundsforsuchfundspaidoutbytheFunds.  Tothefullextentpermittedbythe
ConstitutionandthelawsoftheStateofGeorgiaandthetermsoftheFund, APPLICANTanditsinsurerswaiveanyrightof
subrogationagainsttheStateofGeorgia, theIndemnitees, andtheFundandinsurersparticipatingthereunder, tothefullextentofthis
indemnification.  

APPLICANTshall, atitsexpense, beentitledtoandshallhavethedutytoparticipateinthedefenseofanysuitagainstthe
Indemnitees.  Nosettlementorcompromiseofanyclaim, lossordamageassertedagainstIndemniteesshallbebindingupon
IndemniteesunlessexpresslyapprovedbytheIndemnitee.  

J.  TERMINATION
ThisAgreementmayterminateormaybeterminatedbyEPDforanyorallofthefollowingreasons:  foranydefaultbyAPPLICANT;  
fortheconvenienceofEPD; intheeventoftheinsolvencyofordeclarationofbankruptcybyAPPLICANT; andintheevent
sufficientfundsnolongerexistforthepaymentofEPD'sobligationshereunder.  Eachoftheseisdescribedinthefollowing
paragraphs.  

a) TerminationforDefault

ThefailureofAPPLICANTtocomplywithanyterm, condition, orprovisionofthisAgreementshall, attheoptionofEPD,  
constituteadefaultbyAPPLICANT.  Intheeventofdefault, EPDshallnotifyAPPLICANTinwritingbyhand-deliveryor
bycertifiedorregisteredmail, returnreceiptrequested, ofthespecificactoromissionofAPPLICANTwhichconstitutes
default. APPLICANTshallhavefifteen (15) daysfromthedateofreceiptofsuchnotificationtocuresuchdefault; provided,  
however, if, inthesolediscretionofEPD, APPLICANT’Sdefaultposesanimminentdangertothesafetyandhealthofthe
generalpublic, EPDmayrequireinthewrittennotificationthatAPPLICANTcurethedefaultwithinatimeperiodlessthan
fifteen (15) days.  Intheeventofdefault, andduringtheabovespecifiedgraceperiod, performanceundertheAgreement
shallcontinueasthoughthedefaulthadneveroccurred.  Intheeventthedefaultisnotcuredinfifteen (15) days (orwithin
suchothertimeperiodasrequiredbyEPDinthewrittennotificationofdefaulttoAPPLICANT), EPDmay, atitssoleoption,  
terminatetheAgreementfordefault.  Suchterminationshallbeaccomplishedbywrittennoticeofterminationforwardedto
APPLICANTbycertifiedorregisteredmailandshallbeeffectiveatthecloseofbusinessonthedatespecifiedinthenotice.   

46

Item 10a.



UponeffectiveterminationofthisAgreementasprovidedherein, APPLICANTshallnotbeentitledtoanyfurtherpayments
pursuanttothisAgreement (regardlessofwhethersuchpaymentsmayhavepreviouslybeenapprovedbyEPD), andshall
immediatelyreturntoEPDallFINANCIALASSISTANCEpreviouslypaidtoAPPLICANT. Provided, however, ifitis
determined, afternoticeofterminationfordefault, thatAPPLICANT'Sfailurewasduetocausesbeyondthecontrolofand
withouterrorornegligenceofAPPLICANT, theterminationshallbedeemedaterminationforconvenienceunderParagraph
b) below.   TheremediesprovidedEPDhereinshallbeinadditiontoandnotinlieuofanyotherremediesthatEPDmay

havebyreasonofAPPLICANT’SbreachofthisAgreement.  

b) TerminationforConvenience

EPDmayterminatethisAgreementinwholeorinpartwhenever, foranyreason, EPDdeterminesthatsuchterminationisin
thebestinterestoftheStateofGeorgia.  IntheeventthatEPDelectstoterminatetheAgreementpursuanttothisprovision, it
shallsonotifyAPPLICANTbycertifiedorregisteredmail, returnreceiptrequested.  Theterminationshallbeeffectiveasof
thedatespecifiedinthenotice.  

c) TerminationforBankruptcyorInsolvency

IntheeventthatAPPLICANTshallceaseconductingbusinessinthenormalcourse, becomeinsolvent, makeageneral
assignmentforthebenefitofcreditors, sufferorpermittheappointmentofareceiverforitsbusinessoritsassetsorshall
availitselfof, orbecomesubjectto, anyproceedingundertheFederalBankruptcyActoranyotherstatuteofanystate
relatingtoinsolvencyortheprotectionoftherightsofcreditors, EPDmayatitsoption, terminatethisAgreement.  Inthe
eventEPDelectstoterminatetheAgreementunderthisprovisionitshalldosobysendingnoticeofterminationto
APPLICANTbyregisteredorcertifiedmail, returnreceiptrequested.  Theeffectivedateofterminationshallbedeemedtobe
thedatesuchnoticeismailedtoAPPLICANT, unlessotherwisespecified.  UponeffectiveterminationofthisAgreementas
providedherein, APPLICANTshallnotbeentitledtoanyfurtherpaymentspursuanttothisAgreement (regardlessof
whethersuchpaymentsmayhavepreviouslybeenapprovedbyEPD).  

d) TerminationforUnavailabilityofFunds

NotwithstandinganyotherprovisionofthisAgreement, thepartiesheretoagreethatthechargeshereunderarepayableby
EPDfromtheHazardousWasteTrustFund.  Intheeventthatthesourceofpaymentforthetotalobligationnolongerexists
orisinsufficientwithrespecttothemattersaddressedherein, inthesolediscretionEPDandoftheState, thenthisAgreement
astoallsuchmattersor, asthecasemaybe, astoanyofthemattersaddressedunderthisContract, shallterminatewithout
furtherobligationofEPDandtheStateasofthatmoment.  ThecertificationofEPDandtheStateoftheeventsstatedabove
shallbeconclusive.  Shouldfundingceaseorotherwisebecomeunavailable, thisAgreementwillimmediatelybecomenull
andvoid.    UponeffectiveterminationofthisAgreementasprovidedherein, APPLICANTshallnotbeentitledtoany
furtherpaymentspursuanttothisAgreement (regardlessofwhethersuchpaymentsmayhavepreviouslybeenapprovedby
EPD)  

K. GOVERNINGLAW
ThisAgreementshallbeconstruedinaccordancewiththelawsoftheStateofGeorgia.  

L.FORCEMAJEURE
Thepartiesheretoshallnotberesponsibleforanyfailureordelayintheperformanceofanyobligationshereundercausedbyactsof
God, flood, fire, warorpublicenemy.  

M. NOTICES
AllnoticesunderthisAgreementshallbedeemeddulygiven:  Upondelivery, ifdeliveredbyhand (againstreceipt); orthreedays
afterposting, ifsentbyRegisteredorCertifiedMail, ReturnReceiptRequested; toapartyheretoattheaddresssetforthbeloworto
suchotheraddressasapartymaydesignatebynoticepursuanthereto.  

APPLICANT: CampbellSmith, SolidWasteDirector
900GaissertRoad
Albany, GA30705

EPD: Ms. KellyKitchens
ResponseandRemediationProgram
2MartinLutherKingJr., SE
FloydTowerEast, Suite1052
Atlanta, Georgia30334

N. WAIVER
47

Item 10a.



ThewaiverbyEPDofanybreachofanyprovisioncontainedinthisAgreementshallnotbedeemedtobeawaiverofsuchprovision
onanysubsequentbreachofthesameoranyotherprovisioncontainedinthisAgreement.  Nosuchwaiverorwaiversshallserveto
establishacourseofperformancebetweenthepartiescontradictorytothetermshereof.  

O. AUTHORITY
APPLICANTwarrantsthatithasfullpowerandauthoritytoenterintoandperformthisAgreement, andthatthepersonsigningon
behalfofAPPLICANThasbeenproperlyauthorizedandempoweredtoenterintothisAgreement. APPLICANTfurther
acknowledgesthatithasreadthisAgreement, understandsitandagreestobeboundbyit.  

P. SEVERABILITY
IfanytermorprovisionofthisAgreementshallbefoundtobeillegalorunenforceablethen, notwithstanding, thisAgreementshall
remaininfullforceandeffectandsuchtermorprovisionshallbedeemedstrickenherefrom.  

Q. HEADINGS
TheparagraphheadingsusedinthisAgreementareforreferencepurposesonlyandshallnotbedeemedapartofthisAgreement.  

R. AMENDMENTSINWRITING
NoamendmenttothisAgreementshallbeeffectiveunlessitisinwritingandsignedbydulyauthorizedrepresentativesoftheparties.  

S. ASSIGNMENT
APPLICANTshallnotassignitsrighttoreceiveFINANCIALASSISTANCE, oranyobligationsrequiredofitpursuanttothis
AgreementwithouttheexpresswrittenconsentofEPD.  

T. ENTIREAGREEMENT
ThisAgreementconstitutestheentireagreementbetweenthepartieswithrespecttothesubjectmatter; allprioragreements,  
representations, statements, negotiations, andundertakingsaresupersededhereby.  

U.  IMMIGRATIONREFORMANDCONTROLACT
EachpartyherebycertifiesthatithascompliedwiththeImmigrationReformandControlActof1986 (IRCA), D.L. 99-603andthe
GeorgiaSecurityandImmigrationComplianceAct, O.C.G.A. § 13-10-90etseq., byregisteringathttps://www.vis- 
dhs.com/EmployerRegistrationandverifyinginformationforallnewemployeesandexecutinganyaffidavitsrequiredbyGa. Comp.  
R & Regs. r. 300-10-1-.01etseq.  

INWITNESSWHEREOF, thepartieshaveexecutedthisAgreementonthedatefirstwrittenabove.  

GEORGIADEPARTMENTOFNATURALRESOURCES,   
ENVIRONMENTALPROTECTIONDIVISION ("EPD")  

By:   

RichardE. Dunn, Director

DoughertyCountyGEORGIA (“APPLICANT”)  

By

ChristopherS. Cohilas, Chairman

ATTEST:  

Title:  

48

Item 10a.



RESOLUTION
AuthorizationtoExecuteAgreementGoverningExpendituresforState & LocalGovernmentCosts

WHEREAS, DoughertyCountyGeorgiahassubmittedanapplicationtotheGeorgiaDepartmentof
NaturalResources, EnvironmentalProtectionDivision (“EPD”) inordertoreceivefundsfromthe
HazardousWasteTrustFund; and

WHEREAS, EPDhassubmittedanAgreementGoverningExpendituresforState & LocalGovernment
CoststoDoughertyCountyforexecution;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BEITRESOLVEDbytheBoardofCommissioners thattheproposedAgreement
isherebyapprovedandtheChairmanisherebyauthorizedtoexecute, onbehalfofDoughertyCountythe
referencedAgreementandanyotherrelateddocumentsnecessarytoobtainthefundingasprovided
therein; and

BEITFURTHERRESOLVEDthattheChairmanisherebyauthorizedtotakeanyandallotheraction,  
withoutfurtherapprovaloractionofthisBoard, whichmaybenecessaryorappropriateinordertofully
consummateandcarryouttheintentoftheAgreement.  

This_____ Dayof ______________, 20__.  

ATTEST:                                                 
Chair

Seal)      

CERTIFICATION

IdoherebycertifythattheaboveisatrueandcorrectcopyoftheResolutiondulyadoptedbythe
DoughertyCountyBoardofCommissionersonthedatesostatedinsaidResolution.  

IfurthercertifythatIamthe _________________________ andthatsaidResolutionhasbeen
Title)  

dulyenteredintheofficialrecordsoftheDoughertyCountyBoardofCommissionersandremainsinfull
forceandeffectthisthe

dayof   _____________________ , 20__.  

Signature

49

Item 10a.


	Top
	Item 5a.	Minutes
	2022.08.29 Minutes SCM
	2022.09.12 Minutes Regular

	Item 7a.	Zoning
	Zoning_WECS Draft FINAL

	Item 8a.	Purchase a_Filter Maintenance
	Purchase a_Filter

	Item 9a.	Board Appts
	Board Appointments

	Item 10a.	Other a_EPD
	Other a_Dougherty County HWTF Contract Offer

	Bottom

